**RECEIVED**

**May 05 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Jean H. Toal  
Acting Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001997  
Circuit Court Case No. 2022-CP-40-01265

Sarah J. Plant and Parker Plant, ..... Plaintiffs,

v.

Avon Products, Inc.; Amaco, LLC; American Art Clay Co. Inc.;  
The Bargain Barn, LLC; Beacon CMP Corporation; Belk, Inc.;  
Block Drug Company, Inc.; Brenntag North America, Inc.;  
Brenntag Specialties, LLC; Bristol-Myers Squibb Company;  
Chattem, Inc.; Colgate-Palmolive Company; Color Techniques,

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

This appeal presents two primary issues for this Court's consideration:

1.     **Personal Jurisdiction Over Foreign Companies.** The Appellants are not South Carolina companies. Nothing in the record suggests that they have any contacts with South Carolina or ever purposefully availed themselves of this state with respect to anything associated with the subject matter of this case. Despite the absence of minimum contacts and purposeful availment, the circuit court held that they are subject to specific jurisdiction here based on a theory that a defendant is subject to personal jurisdiction wherever its products happen to end up after it places them in the "stream of commerce." Was that ruling in error?

2.     **New Trial Based on Discovery on Irrelevant Issues.** Nearly a year after the jury rendered a defense verdict in favor of the Appellants, the Plaintiffs requested a new trial on grounds that allegedly-responsive materials weren't produced in discovery. The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that a new trial cannot be based on supposedly defective discovery responses, but the circuit court granted the new trial motion anyway. Did the circuit court err when it ordered a new trial against the Appellants?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of both oral rulings finding personal jurisdiction over foreign companies and a written order that vacated a defense verdict following a jury trial and ordered a new trial well over a year after the trial concluded.

### *Pretrial*

#### **I. The plaintiffs alleged that cosmetic talc caused Mrs. Plant's mesothelioma.**

The plaintiffs, Mr. and Mrs. Plant, are a husband and wife from Tennessee. (R. p. \_\_\_; Am. Compl. ¶ 24.) Mrs. Plant has been diagnosed with mesothelioma, and she alleges that asbestos-containing talc in various makeup products, body-powder products, and ceramic art materials that she used through the years caused her illness. (*E.g.*, R. pp. \_\_\_–\_\_\_; Am. Compl. ¶¶ 6–16.)

The case was filed on March 10, 2022; amended on April 11, 2022; and sued 51 defendants. Mrs. Plant asserted claims of negligence, products liability, negligence per se, breach of implied warranties, fraudulent misrepresentation, and conspiracy. Mr. Plant asserted a claim of loss of consortium. The Plants generically pled all of their claims against all defendants.

#### **II. Three IMI Fabi entities were named as defendants, and each promptly moved for dismissal and then for summary judgment due to a lack of personal jurisdiction.**

Among the dozens of defendants included in this case, the Plants included IMI Fabi (Diana) LLC; IMI Fabi (USA) Inc.; and IMI Fabi, LLC. IMI Fabi (USA) is a holding company, and the other two entities are or were in the business of mining, processing, and selling talc. The IMI Fabi entities' business involves two basic types of talc: (1) industrial-grade talc, which other companies use for industrial applications like manufacturing plastic and rubber, and which is not at issue in this case; and (2) cosmetic-grade talc, which other companies can ultimately use in the manufacture of make-up and body-powder products.

There are no allegations in the Plants' pleadings about any IMI Fabi entity other than statements regarding where each is formed (not in South Carolina) and operates (also not in South Carolina):

- Paragraph 51 alleges that IMI Fabi (Diana) LLC “was and is a North Carolina limited liability company with its principal place of business in West Virginia.” (R. p. \_\_\_\_; Am. Compl. ¶ 51.)
- The next paragraph alleges that IMI Fabi (USA) Inc. “was and is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in West Virginia.” (*Id.* ¶ 52.)
- The next paragraph alleges that IMI Fabi, LLC “was and is a West Virginia limited liability company with its principal place of business in West Virginia.” (R. p. \_\_\_\_; Am. Compl. ¶ 53.)

Other than these allegations, the pleadings are silent regarding the IMI Fabi entities.

On May 13, 2022, each IMI Fabi entity moved to dismiss based on lack of personal jurisdiction in South Carolina. (R. pp. \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_; IMI Fabi (Diana) Motion to Dismiss; IMI Fabi (USA) Motion to Dismiss; and IMI Fabi, LLC Motion to Dismiss.) In those filings, each explained that it has nothing to do with South Carolina regarding the cosmetic talc at issue, as well as corrected the Plants' incorrect allegations regarding the corporate locales for each: IMI Fabi (Diana)'s principal place of business was New York, IMI Fabi (USA)'s principal place of business is Delaware, and IMI Fabi, LLC's place of organization was previously North Carolina. (R. pp. \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_; IMI Fabi (Diana) Motion to Dismiss at 2 n.4; IMI Fabi (USA) Motion to Dismiss at 2 n.4; and IMI Fabi, LLC Motion to Dismiss at 2 n.4.)

On July 13, 2022, each IMI Fabi entity supplemented its motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction with a supporting memorandum and accompanying affidavit that laid out in exacting detail how detached each company is from South Carolina. (R. pp. \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_; IMI Fabi (Diana) Supporting Memo; IMI Fabi (USA) Supporting Memo; and IMI Fabi, LLC Supporting Memo.)

As detailed in those filings, no IMI Fabi entity has or ever had any property, office, employee, business operations, contracts, insurance, agent, license, tax payments, tax credits or deductions, mailing address, advertisements, marketing efforts, deliveries, vehicles (including boats), shipments, or anything else directed to South Carolina that relates to selling cosmetic talc. (R. pp. \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_; Aff. Brown *passim*; Aff. Zuppini *passim*; and Aff. Woods *passim*.)

Those filings also clarified several points about each IMI Fabi entity:

- IMI Fabi (Diana) “closed its operations” on December 31, 2004. (R. p. \_\_\_\_; Aff. Brown ¶ 4.)
- IMI Fabi (USA) is strictly a holding company for the membership interests in IMI Fabi, LLC, and it has “no business or operations, and it holds no other property or assets.” (R. p. \_\_\_\_; Aff. Zuppini ¶ 3.)
- While IMI Fabi, LLC has occasionally shipped industrial-grade talc to South Carolina in the past, it has never directed—whether via shipment, sale, delivery, or contract—any cosmetic-grade talc here. (R. p. \_\_\_\_; Aff. Woods ¶¶ 18–20, 32, 35, 37.)

The Plants did not respond to these motions to dismiss. Accordingly, the IMI Fabi entities moved for summary judgment on January 13, 2023. In those motions, the IMI Fabi entities reiterated their same personal jurisdiction arguments, and they also argued (1) the Plants from Tennessee are barred from suing other foreigners like the IMI Fabi entities in South Carolina due to the door-closing statute, and (2) the Plants’ claims fail due to the absence of any proof of causation related to the IMI Fabi entities. (R. pp. \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_; IMI Fabi (Diana) Motion for Summary Judgment; IMI Fabi (USA) Motion for Summary Judgment; and IMI Fabi, LLC Motion for Summary Judgment.)

**III. With their personal jurisdiction-based motions languishing and trial rapidly approaching, the IMI Fabi entities engaged in discovery.**

The Plants did not respond to or oppose the IMI Fabi entities' motions for summary judgment, either. But with a trial date looming, the IMI Fabi entities agreed with the Plants' counsel to withdraw the non-personal jurisdiction aspects of their motions for summary judgment and to present Corrado Fabi—an Italian resident who is the owner of the IMI Fabi group and the president of IMI Fabi (USA) and IMI Fabi, LLC—as the Rule 30(b)(6) designee for each of the IMI Fabi entities for an “all issues,” rather than strictly jurisdictional, deposition. (R. p. \_\_\_; 4th Am. Notice of Deposition to IMI Fabi Entities (Feb. 8, 2023).)

Prior to the deposition, the IMI Fabi entities produced over 1,000 pages of responsive, non-privileged documents to the Plants. The deposition took place on February 15, 2023—just one week after the notice was served—and it lasted four hours. During that deposition, Mr. Fabi told the Plants that Michael Sommerville, a Boston attorney who had represented the IMI Fabi entities in other matters, maintained all of the hard copy records for IMI Fabi (Diana), as it hasn't been operational since 2004. (R. p. \_\_\_; Fabi Dep. 25:14–26:3.)

On February 17, 2023, the IMI Fabi entities supplemented their prior dispositive motions with further proof that they have nothing to do with South Carolina with respect to the cosmetic talc at issue in this matter, rendering South Carolina without personal jurisdiction over any of them. (R. pp. \_\_\_, \_\_\_, \_\_\_; IMI Fabi (Diana) Supplemental Filing; IMI Fabi (USA) Supplemental Filing; and IMI Fabi, LLC Supplemental Filing.)

The next day, the Plants filed their first written opposition to any of the IMI Fabi entities' personal jurisdiction arguments. In it, they conceded there is no “general” jurisdiction over the IMI Fabi entities, but they argued that a “stream of commerce” theory supported finding specific jurisdiction over the IMI Fabi entities. The “evidence” they cited in support of this argument

keyed on: (1) IMI Fabi, LLC’s sales of industrial-grade talc in South Carolina—which has nothing to do with this case; and (2) IMI Fabi (Diana)’s sales of cosmetic talc (manufactured with ore imported from China by a Texas company) to a New Jersey company called Cosmetic Specialties, Inc. (R. p. \_\_\_; Plants’ Opposition to IMI Fabi Entities’ Personal Jurisdiction Motions.)

### **Trial**

#### **I. The circuit court denied the IMI Fabi entities’ motions on the first day of trial without any meaningful explanation.**

Trial began on February 23, 2023. That morning, the circuit court heard argument on the IMI Fabi entities’ personal jurisdiction objections. It denied those motions without a written order or meaningful explanation, stating only: “The motion to dismiss is denied on the basis of the averments made and the pleadings in issue.” (R. p. \_\_\_; Trial Tr. 110:22–24.)

Although the Plants alleged that 51 entities were responsible for Mrs. Plant’s illness, only a small handful remained for trial. Even more defendants dropped out during trial, including IMI Fabi (USA), which the Plants voluntarily dismissed. (R. pp. \_\_\_–\_\_\_; Trial Tr. 1833:24–1834:7.)<sup>1</sup> The Plants ultimately asked the jury to assess their claims against three defendants: IMI Fabi (Diana) LLC; IMI Fabi, LLC; and Whittaker, Clark & Daniels (“WCD”).

#### **II. The IMI Fabi entities reiterated the absence of personal jurisdiction throughout trial, and the Plants also fail to prove that IMI Fabi ever supplied cosmetic talc to anyone that contains asbestos.**

Trial proceeded from February 23 through March 3, 2023. The Plants called Mr. Fabi as a witness in their case in chief, and his testimony confirmed several dispositive points.

---

<sup>1</sup> The new-trial order on appeal includes IMI Fabi (USA), which is why IMI Fabi (USA) is designated as an appellant. (R. p. \_\_\_; Am. New Trial Order at 1 n.2.) But IMI Fabi (USA)—a holding company that has no operations and no contact with South Carolina—is no longer a party to this case, and its inclusion in the new-trial order can only be a scrivener’s error, as the Plants themselves dismissed IMI Fabi (USA) from this case.

First, Mr. Fabi explained that all of the cosmetic talc the IMI Fabi entities source and sell comes only from certain mines in the Guangxi province in China, a region that is approximately 90,000 square miles large. Mr. Fabi testified that his companies selected the specific mines after inspecting them and testing talc mined from them to confirm ore from those mines contains no asbestos. He testified that his companies test the talc after it is received to re-confirm the absence of asbestos in it. And Mr. Fabi testified that the IMI Fabi entities test their talc for asbestos using “an international standard” and “go the extra mile” with additional testing—both through internal labs and external, independent labs—to ensure the cosmetic talc the IMI Fabi entities sell is asbestos-free. (R. pp. \_\_\_–\_\_\_, \_\_\_, \_\_\_–\_\_\_; Trial Tr. 1190:24–1191:19, 1218:4–24, 1224:8–1232:14.)

Second, Mr. Fabi confirmed that Cosmetic Specialties, Inc.—a talc distributor that is not a party to this case—was the IMI Fabi entities’ exclusive customer for its cosmetic talc. (R. pp. \_\_\_–\_\_\_, \_\_\_–\_\_\_, \_\_\_; Trial Tr. 1191:25–1192:13, 1194:16–1195:3, 1197:4–6.) And while Cosmetic Specialties would occasionally disclose one of its own customers to an IMI Fabi entity, Mr. Fabi explained that his companies had “very limited knowledge” of to whom Cosmetic Specialties would sell talc “because Cosmetic Specialties has always been very protective of its customer list.” (R. pp, \_\_\_–\_\_\_, \_\_\_, \_\_\_; Trial Tr. 1194:25–1195:3, 1209:1–19, 1234:11–:16.)

Finally, Mr. Fabi testified about the absence of any connection—no direct contact, no indirect contact, nothing at all—between his companies and South Carolina with respect to sales of cosmetic talc. (R. pp. \_\_\_–\_\_\_, \_\_\_–\_\_\_; Trial Tr. 1223:1–1224:1, 1234:17–1236:14.)

**III. The IMI Fabi entities renewed their personal jurisdiction and merits-based objections throughout the trial, and they then argued to the jury during closing that there was no evidence in the record to link them to anything that could have harmed Mrs. Plant.**

The only evidence presented regarding any contacts the IMI Fabi entities have with South Carolina regarding the cosmetic talc at issue confirmed, unambiguously and indisputably, that there are no such contacts. Accordingly, after the Plants rested their case on March 1, 2023, the IMI Fabi entities moved for a directed verdict on “all of the plaintiffs’ theories and on the lack of personal jurisdiction.” (R. p. \_\_\_; Trial Tr. 1333:11–14.)

The circuit court heard argument on that motion the following morning. The IMI Fabi entities argued, first, that there is nothing in the record that could possibly support a finding of personal jurisdiction in South Carolina, as there is no evidence at all that any IMI Fabi entity directed anything related to cosmetic talc to this state. They also argued that the Plants “failed to put any evidence in the record that Mrs. Plant used a product that had IMI Fabi talc in it. They have failed to put any linking evidence to show that there is asbestos contamination in the talc from IMI Fabi, and that is fatal to their claims—all of their claims, so we would ask for directed verdict.” (R. pp. \_\_\_–\_\_\_; Trial Tr. 1550:2–1552:24 (absence of personal jurisdiction), 1553:3–1556:15 (absence of causation).)

The circuit court orally denied the personal-jurisdiction portion of the directed verdict motion based on factual assertions that are nowhere in the record and, respectfully, appear to have been made with WCD or some other entity in mind, rather than an IMI Fabi entity. (*See, e.g.*, R. p. \_\_\_; Trial Tr. 1562:3–19 (stating that South Carolina has personal jurisdiction over the IMI Fabi entities because of “a long relationship with the Cosmetic, Toiletries, and Fragrance Association and with countless cosmetic manufacturers and distributors around the world,” and because “[i]t bought additional mines or sought out additional mines to service this burgeoning

and growing United States market”).) None of these statements have any evidentiary support in the record, nor are they true about any IMI Fabi entity. IMI Fabi urged the circuit court to tender the issue of personal jurisdiction to the jury, but the circuit court rejected that suggestion because of its view that these were “jurisdictional facts” to be found by the court. (R. pp. \_\_\_–\_\_\_; Trial Tr. 1623:1–1625:12.)

Regarding the merits of the case, the circuit court denied a directed verdict because, in the judge’s view, the IMI Fabi entities “knew or should have known about the presence of asbestos, the kind of testing limitations that there are, depending on what kind of testing is done. Anyone in this business knew a good deal about that, including IMI Fabi.” (R. p. \_\_\_; Trial Tr. 1563:1–9.) This statement ignores the indisputable point that there is no evidence in the record indicating there is any asbestos in IMI Fabi’s talc; in fact, all of the evidence indicated exactly the opposite.

After the defendants closed their case, the IMI Fabi entities again renewed their directed verdict motions, and they again noted the lack of personal jurisdiction and the absence of evidence to support the merits of the Plants’ claims. The circuit court again denied the motion. (R. p. \_\_\_; Trial Tr. 1894:5–20.)

**IV. The jury returned a verdict in favor of the two remaining IMI Fabi entities, and it awarded the Plants approximately \$29 million against Whittaker, Clark & Daniels.**

Trial concluded on March 3, 2023. The jury returned a defense verdict with respect to both IMI Fabi (Diana) and IMI Fabi, LLC. The jury also found WCD liable in both tort and implied contract to the Plants, and it awarded the Plants over \$29 million in actual damages against WCD. (R. p. \_\_\_; Verdict Form.)

### Post-Trial

**I. The circuit court appointed a receiver over Whittaker, Clark & Daniels, but the company's actual directors declared bankruptcy in New Jersey, prompting a jurisdictional fight that is playing out in federal court.**

A week after the jury returned its verdict, the Plants requested, and the circuit court appointed, a receiver over WCD even though it is a New Jersey company. For its part, WCD filed for bankruptcy protection in New Jersey, where it is located.

That bankruptcy filing has prompted litigation before federal courts regarding the validity and scope of a receivership appointment by a South Carolina state court over an active, out-of-state company. *See In re Whittaker, Clark & Daniels, Inc.*, Case No. 23-13575 (MBK), 2023 Bankr. LEXIS 1600, at \*14–25 (Bankr. D.N.J. June 20, 2023) (rejecting the receiver's arguments that the South Carolina circuit court authorized him to block a New Jersey company's board of directors from making a bankruptcy filing), *ruling affirmed and Receiver's appeal dismissed by Protopapas v. Whittaker, Clark & Daniels, Inc.*, Case No. 23-4151 (ZNQ), 2024 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 97270 (D.N.J. May 31, 2024), *further appeal pending at Case No. 24-2210 (3d Cir.)*.

The details of that fight do not matter to this appeal, but the very existence of the WCD bankruptcy provides key context because it casts doubt on the Plants' ability to collect on their judgment, other than the \$8.65 million they have already collected from settling defendants. (R. p. \_\_\_; Plants' Opposition to Setoff at 4.)

**II. 364 days after the verdict, the Plants moved for a new trial against the IMI Fabi entities based on allegedly deficient discovery responses.**

In the face of such uncertainty regarding the collectability of their judgment against WCD, the Plants sought a do-over against the remaining IMI Fabi entities through a contrived motion for a new trial, which they filed on March 1, 2024.

The Plants based their motion on the IMI Fabi entities' alleged failure to produce materials in discovery. (R. p. \_\_\_; Motion for New Trial.) This is not a legitimate basis for seeking a new trial. *E.g., Raby Constr., LLP v. Orr*, 358 S.C. 10, 20–21 n.5, 594 S.E.2d 478, 483 n.5 (2004). Nevertheless, the Plants argued the unproduced materials would have shown the jury a greater connectivity between IMI Fabi talc and some manufacturers of cosmetics Mrs. Plant used.

The circuit court held three hearings on the motion: April 26, 2024; June 26, 2024; and August 21, 2024. During the first, the circuit court seemingly recognized the futility of the Plants' position and instructed the Plants to revisit the basis for their motion and to do a better job of explaining how the unproduced materials could have impacted the outcome of the trial. (R. pp. \_\_\_–\_\_\_; Hr'g Tr. 71:13–72:15 (Apr. 26, 2024).)

During the second, the circuit court declared—incorrectly—that the IMI Fabi entities only defended the case based on the Plants' failure to tie a product that Mrs. Plant had used to any IMI Fabi talc. (R. p. \_\_\_; Hr'g Tr. 7:1–14 (June 26, 2024).) It then demanded that the IMI Fabi entities present for examination in Columbia one of their outside counsel who participated in the document review and production in this case: Mr. Sommerville, who Mr. Fabi identified during his deposition as a custodian for IMI Fabi (Diana) records. (R. pp. \_\_\_–\_\_\_; Hr'g Tr. 73:4–75:10 (June 26, 2024).)

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