RECEIVED

Aug 19 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Jean H. Toal, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001997
Civil Action No. 2022-CP-40-01265

Sarah J. Plant and Parker Plant,Respondents,

v.

Avon Products, Inc.; Amaco, LLC; American Art Clay Co. Inc.;
The Bargain Barn, LLC; Beacon CMP Corporation; Belk, Inc.;
Block Drug Company, Inc.; Brenntag North America, Inc.;
Brenntag Specialties, LLC; Bristol-Myers Squibb Company;
Chattem, Inc.; Colgate-Palmolive Company; Color Techniques,
Inc.; Conopco, Inc.; Coty Inc.; Dana Classic Fragrances, Inc.;

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

The circuit court had substantial information before it to find that the presentation of the newly discovered evidence to the jury probably would have

produced a different result. The Court properly granted a new trial under Rule 60(b)(2).

D. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting a new trial based on fraud on the Court.

South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b)(3) provides that a court may relieve a party from a final judgment based on “fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party.” Rule 60(b)(3), SCRCP. Similar to the rules that apply to newly discovered evidence, a movant cannot prevail “where he or she has access to the disputed information or has knowledge of inaccuracies in an opponent’s representations at the time of the alleged misconduct.” *Raby Const., L.L.P.*, 358 S.C. at 21, 594 S.E.2d at 484 (internal citation omitted). The circuit court continually stressed that to grant a new trial based on fraud, it was not enough that the Fabi Defendants were sloppy or telling lies; the burden of proof exceeded that standard. (R. p. 0550, lines 13-23).

When determining whether a party has committed fraud on the court, a court must look at whether the fraud was intrinsic or extrinsic.¹² “The essential distinction

¹² The Fabi Defendants briefly mention a dissenting opinion authored by Judge Toal in an attempt to show that she does not understand how extrinsic evidence works. (Final Brief, p. 14); see *Aaron v. Mahl*, 381 S.C. 585, 596 (2009). *Aaron v. Mahl*, 381 S.C. 585, 595-96, 674 S.E.2d 482, 487-88 (2009). In that dissent, she cited *Chewing*, which the Fabi Defendants recognize as good law. *Id.* at 595, 487 (“See *Chewing*, 354 S.C. at 84, 579 S.E.2d at 611 (recognizing that where an attorney embarks on a scheme to intentionally conceal documents, extrinsic fraud constituting a fraud upon the court occurs.”) Her dissent is not about the law, but the facts. *Id.* at 596, 488 (“In my view, the evidence shows that Appellant’s attorney intentionally concealed the Collection Agreement. As a result of these actions, Respondent was prevented from fully litigating her claim that the assignment was invalid during the Indiana litigation.”).

between intrinsic and extrinsic fraud for purposes of relief from judgment is the ability to discover the fraud.” *Gainey v. Gainey*, 382 S.C. 414, 426, 675 S.E.2d 792, 798 (Ct. App. 2009). Not disclosing materials, committing perjury, or presenting forged documents at trial—by itself—is considered intrinsic fraud. *See Chewning*, 354 S.C. at 81-82, 579 S.E.2d at 610; *see also Raby Const., L.L.P.*, 358 S.C. at 19, 594 S.E.2d at 483. Intrinsic fraud, “is fraud which misleads a court in determining issues and induces the court to find for the party perpetrating the fraud.” *Raby Const., L.L.P.*, 358 S.C. at 19, 594 S.E.2d at 483. Extrinsic fraud, on the other hand, requires intent to deceive. “[A]n act of perjury or concealment of a document coupled with an intentional scheme to defraud the court justifies the setting aside of a judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b) due to extrinsic fraud.” *Ray v. Ray*, 374 S.C. 79, 86, 647 S.E.2d 237, 241 (2007). For example, in *Ray*, the wife submitted an accounting to the court that contained misrepresentations as part of a divorce proceeding. *Id.* That constituted intrinsic fraud. *Id.* She also delayed the payment of a substantial sum of money to her until after the divorce to avoid reporting it. *Id.* In doing so, and in taking this further intentional step to deceive the court, the Court found that she committed extrinsic fraud. *Id.*

“Extrinsic fraud is fraud that induces a person not to present a case or deprives a person of the opportunity to be heard. Relief is granted for extrinsic fraud on the theory that because the fraud prevented a party from fully exhibiting and trying his case, there has never been a real contest before the court on the subject matter of the action.” *Chewning*, 354 S.C. at 81, 579 S.E.2d at 610 (internal citations omitted). For

example, the withholding of evidence—such as by the submission of a false interrogatory response—may modify the theory emphasized at trial, encourage a party to abandon a theory before it even gets to the jury, and/or limit a party’s ability to find other relevant documents. *Rozier v. Ford Motor Co.*, 573 F.2d 1332, 1342-44 (5th Cir. 1978) (cited in *Chewing* and *Ray*’s analysis of fraud on the court). In this context when looking at whether withheld evidence would have impacted the trial, the evidence should be weighed in favor of the moving party. *Id.* at 1346 (“a litigant who has engaged in misconduct is not entitled to ‘the benefit of calculation, which can be little better than speculation, as to the extent of the wrong inflicted upon his opponent.’” (citing *Minneapolis, St. Paul & S.S. Marie Ry. Co. v. Moquin*, 283 U.S. 520, 521-22 (1931))).

Extrinsic fraud is considered problematic as it “does, or attempts to, subvert the integrity of the Court itself, or is a fraud perpetuated by officers of the court so that the judicial machinery cannot perform in the usual manner its impartial task of adjudicating cases that are presented for adjudication.” *Ray*, 374 S.C. at 85, 647 S.E.2d at 240 (citing *Evans v. Gunter*, 294 S.C. 525, 529, 366 S.E.2d 44, 46 (1988)). It is not limited “to misconduct of an attorney or an officer of the court.” *Id.* However, the subordination of perjury by an attorney and/or the intentional concealment of documents by an attorney seem to be the most common ways to prove extrinsic fraud. *Chewing*, 354 S.C. at 82-83, 579 S.E.2d at 610. Extrinsic fraud must be proven by clear and convincing evidence. *Id.* at 86, 612.

As is relevant here, Mr. Sommerville acted as national counsel for the Fabi Defendants (and hired counsel in this case) and held records on behalf of IMI Fabi Diana starting in 2019 (if not earlier). (R. p. 0578, line 20-p. 05780, line 23; p. 0646, lines 66:11-16). Based on his testimony at the August hearing, the records consist of about 13,000 pages in 7 bankers' boxes. (R. p. 0638, lines 35:21-23; p. 0646, lines 65:23-66:1). In this case, he chose to disclose only about 1,000 pages. (R. p. 0646, lines p. 65:18-22). He flew to Italy and was present during Mr. Fabi's deposition, and he attended the trial in its entirety. (R. p. 0643, lines 53:16-18, 56:15-17). He, however, did not educate Mr. Fabi on the content of those documents. Mr. Fabi testified in a deposition subsequent to trial as follows:

Question	Answer	Source
Let me ask you this, sir: Is your understanding that Mr. Sommerville went to IMI Fabi (Diana) or the Diana plant in 2019 and removed documents, and those are the ones you just said were, your understanding was, a lot of documents, is that right?	I know he went there on behalf of IMI Fabi.	R. p. 2056, line 65:18-p. 2057, line 66:2
Have you ever seen those documents since Mr. Sommerville removed them from the plant?	No, I didn't.	R. p. 2057, lines 66:4-7
Do you have any clue what's contained in those documents that Mr. Sommerville removed from the Diana plant?	No, I don't.	R. p. 2057, lines 66:8-11
Okay. Do you have knowledge one way or the other, sir, if any or all of the Diana documents that Mr. Sommerville removed have been produced to us?	No, I don't know.	R. p. 2057, lines 66:12-18

In other words, Mr. Sommerville maintained exclusive control over the documents—such that even Corrado Fabi did not have access to IMI Fabi Diana’s records and documents. Now that the content of those boxes has been disclosed, it is known that all relevant documents were not produced in this case.

The question becomes whether the failure to disclose was intentional and intended to deceive. As Mr. Sommerville insisted that he did not intentionally withhold any documents, the circuit court was charged with determining whether his denial was credible. In making that determination, the circuit court looked to how he handled his role as counsel for IMI Fabi Diana in another case. In the *Hemmings* case out of New York, Mr. Brown acted as the Rule 30(b)(6) corporate representative for IMI Fabi Diana in 2022. Mr. Sommerville thought that he reviewed some of the IMI Fabi Diana records in preparation for the deposition. (R. p. 0646, lines 66:17-24).

The *Hemmings* deposition transcript was not provided to the Plants. During that deposition, Mr. Brown identified CSI as the distributor for the Fabi Defendants, he acknowledged that the Fabi Defendants generally knew the manufactures that purchased their talc (naming Lander Company, Delager, Coty), and he opined that the Fabi Defendants should have had talc exemplars for 2001 to 2004. (R. p. 2465, lines 22:16-21; p. 2466, lines 26:1-15; p. 2470, lines 44:12-22). Mr. Brown also testified that he was not asked to check for any or documents, and he could have done so. (R. p. 2469, line 41:15-p. 2470, line 42:18). While Mr. Sommerville stated that Mr. Brown did not need to look because most of the requests related to documents that pre-dated IMI Fabi Diana (1970 to 2000), that was not true as to all the questions—especially

those related to business documents. (R. p. 2471, lines 49:1-5). The opposing attorney also pointed out that Mr. Sommerville provided no documents to show the date IMI Fabi Diana came into existence and whether the company assumed any liabilities for the company that previously owned the plant now operated by IMI Fabi Diana. (R. p. 2471, lines 49:6-14).

What is important, however, was that similar to this case, Mr. Sommerville kept the Rule 30(b)(6) deponent in the dark regarding the IMI Fabi Diana records:

Question	Answer	Source
So is it your understanding that there are no documents from the operation of the Diana plant that are in existence today?	I'm not sure. I'm not sure if they threw them all away or just stuff that was in boxes.	R. p. 2466, lines 28:15-19
Has Mr. Sommerville or IMI Fabi's attorney asked you to look to see if there's any documents pertaining to the operation of the plant in existence?	No.	R. p. 2467, lines 30:1-5
So as far as you know there could still be documents pertaining to the operation of the plant that still exist in the plant today.	Yes.	R. p. 2467, lines 31:3-6
You just don't know what they are?	No.	R. p. 2467, lines 31:7-8

It does not appear that Mr. Sommerville chimed in and advise anyone that he in fact had documents sitting in his office. Mr. Sommerville had a duty to prepare the corporate representative, and it appears he failed to do so in the New York case.

Based on that history, the judge expressed concerns regarding his credibility, finding that "Attorney Sommerville clearly has no issue with not complying with the court rules of procedure and concealing information." (R. p. 0010). Based on what the

parties now know to be in the IMI Fabi Diana files and based the testimony by Mr. Brown in *Hemmings*, it appears Mr. Sommerville knew that IMI Fabi Diana had talc samples and knew that IMI Fabi Diana had knowledge regarding the manufacturers. The circuit court found the Fabi Defendants deliberately concealed requested evidence. (R. p. 0014).

“[T]he cases are legion that no party in a proceeding can stand behind letting the attorney take all the documents and put them in the attorney’s office and thereby absolve the corporation . . . from being responsible to their knowledge. That’s the oldest . . . scheme in the book.” (R. p. 0576, lines 5-13). Like the wife in *Ray*, the Fabi Defendants concealed evidence. That concealment resulted in false deposition and trial testimony, which is a classic example of intrinsic fraud. Mr. Sommerville did not make an effort to correct the record or to make sure that the Fabi Defendants understood the content of the documents in his possession, even when he knew counsel was relying upon on a lack of documents defense. As required by *Gainey*, Plaintiffs did not have the ability to discover the fraud because the Fabi Defendants kept asserting that no additional documents existed. The failure to produce the IMI Fabi documents limited Plaintiffs from presenting their full case at trial and seeking additional documents from IMI Fabi and/or IMI Fabi Diana, thereby constituting extrinsic fraud. The court properly granted a motion for new trial under Rule 60(b)(3).

II. The circuit court’s personal jurisdiction ruling is supported by the evidence and correct under South Carolina law.

A. Standard of Review

Courts have held that when reviewing the denial of motions to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction, “[t]he decision of the [circuit] court should be affirmed unless unsupported by the evidence or influenced by an error of law.” *Abdulla v. S. Bank*, 439 S.C. 391, 399 (Ct. App. 2023) (quoting *Cockrell v. Hillerich & Bradsby Co.*, 363 S.C. 485, 491 (2005)). Similarly, when reviewing the denial of a motion for directed verdict, the circuit court judge’s ruling should only be reversed “when there is no evidence to support the ruling or when the ruling is governed by an error of law.” *Click Props., LLC v. Thomas SC Props., LLC*, 445 S.C. 468, 491, 914 S.E.2d 488, 500 (Ct. App. 2025), *reh’g denied* (Apr. 10, 2025). Like the standard of review for a motion for new trial, there is nothing in the relevant case law that transforms the standard of review to *de novo*.

B. The circuit court’s personal jurisdiction ruling is not appealable.

In their notice of appeal, the Fabi Defendants stated that they intended to appeal the circuit court’s rulings “regarding the Appellants’ motions regarding personal jurisdiction and the door-closing statute.”¹³ (Notice of Appeal). The Fabi

¹³ In the notice of appeal, the Fabi Defendants include a ruling by the circuit court denying their request to have the jury decide personal jurisdiction and door-closing. (R. p. 0461, lines 8-15). The Fabi Defendants only used the term “door-closing statute” once in their brief, and they failed to provide any legal analysis. (Final Brief, p. 4). The Fabi Defendants needed to do more than just raise the issue in their notice and allege error in their brief. *Fields v. Melrose Ltd. P’ship*, 312 S.C. 102, 106, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 (Ct. App. 1993); *First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994). It was their burden to include argument and supporting authority

Defendants attached trial transcripts that detailed the circuit court’s denial of their motion to dismiss (R. p. 0311, line 7-p. 0318, line 24) and motions for directed verdict (R. p. 0447, line 2- p. 0449, line 24; p. 0456, line 19-p. 0459, line 25 (first); p. 0467, line 6-p. 0468, line 5 (second)).

As a preliminary matter, the Fabi Defendants cite a portion of the transcript where the circuit court states its intention to “deny the motion for summary judgment.” (R. p. 0458, line 3). In their brief they explain that they intend to appeal “both oral rulings finding personal jurisdiction over foreign companies,” and they alter the trial transcript excerpt to say “directed verdict” instead of “summary judgment.” (Final Brief, pp. 2, 23). To the extent they later attempt to make any argument regarding their intention to also appeal the summary judgment decision, a denial of a motion for summary judgment is not appealable in South Carolina. *Click Props., LLC v. Thomas SC Props., LLC*, 445 S.C. 468, 483, 914 S.E.2d 488, 495–96 (Ct. App. 2025), *reh'g denied* (Apr. 10, 2025) (citing cases). The Court, therefore, should not consider this issue.

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